I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner is SentinelC3, Inc., a Washington Corporation, referred 

to herein as "Sentinel." 

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Court of Appeals decision is published as Sentine!C3, Inc. v. 

Chris Hunt, et. al., No. 305538, 2013 Wash. App. LEXIS 1932 (Div. 3, 

Aug. 15, 2103). A true and correct copy of the decision is provided as 

Appendix A and is referred to herein as the "Opinion." 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

I. In a dissenters' rights case under RCW 23B.13.010 et. seq. where 
the sole issue is the value of a corporation's closely-held stock, can 
dissenting shareholders survive summary judgment based solely on 
self-serving allegations unsupported by admissible evidence? 

2. May unsworn allegations in a party's pleading or inadmissible 
hearsay create a genuine issue of fact to defeat summary 
judgment? 

3. Does the trial court abuse its discretion under RCW 23B.13.31 0 by 
awarding reasonable attorneys' fees and costs to a corporation 
where the dissenting shareholders necessitated the litigation with 
unsubstantiated demands to be paid double and triple the fair value 
of their stock, and, after nearly a year of litigation, failed to present 
any admissible evidence to rebut the corporation's expert fair value 
opinion? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Factual Background. 

This matter involves the fair value appraisal of shares Sentinel 

acquired from Respondents Hunts and Bloods ("Respondents") as part of a 

-1-



reverse stock split, a proceeding governed by Washington's dissenters' 

rights statute, RCW 23B.l3.01 0, et seq. (attached as Appendix B). 

Respondents 1 are former shareholders of Sentinel, a closely-held 

corporation. Of 4,500,000 total Sentinel shares, Hunt held 1,000,000 

common shares (22%) and Blood held 250,000 shares (5.5%). CP 4, 198-

99, 188-92. On October 28, 2010, the shareholders holding all 4,500,000 

Sentinel shares met to vote on a proposed stock split and re-purchase of 

fractional shares; although Hunt and Blood voted against the reverse stock 

split, it passed. CP 6, 26-32, 188-92, 199-200. 

Respondents demanded payment of the fair value of their shares, 

and Sentinel timely paid Hunt $195,790.92 and Blood $48,956.60, 

representing a fair value per share of $0.1952, plus interest. CP 6-8, 28-

59, 64-78, 80-89, 188-92, 200. The fair value per share was established by 

an appraisal by James Kukull, CPA, ASA, ABV, a business valuation 

expert. Sentinel provided Mr. Kukull's appraisal report and supporting 

documentation to Respondents. CP 7-8, 10, 97-184, 186-87, 203. 

Respondents disagreed with Sentinel's fair value determination. 

Hunt demanded more than double at $0.51204 per share, and Blood 

1 Messrs. Hunt's and Blood's marital communities were named as respondents to 
Sentinel's Petition. CP 3. Sentinel refers to them in the singular as "Hunt" and "Blood," 
and "Respondents" collectively. References to Hunts' Answer (CP 198-207) 
demonstrate Hunts' admissions to pertinent facts alleged in the Petition. Bloods' Answer 
does not specifically deny the allegations of Sentinel's Petition and, under CR 8(d), 
failure to deny is an admission. See CP 188-92. 
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demanded more than triple at $0.6443 per share. CP 7, 61-62, 201, 322, 

327-30, 332-45. They both relied on an alleged "professional" valuation 

than has never been disclosed. CP 61-62, 327-30, 333-36, 349, 352, 481-

95, 574-78; 10/2112011 VRP 3:20-25. 

Hunt then inflated his demand an additional 20% based on his 

unsubstantiated "belief' that Sentinel was contemplating its sale to a 

"strategic buyer." CP 7, 61-62, 201. Hunt's beliefwas pure speculation, 

and in nearly a year of litigation, he produced no evidence to support this 

belief. !d.; CP 563. In fact, no sale was contemplated. CP 300. 

Blood inflated his per-share demand even higher than Hunt's. He 

believed his 250,000 shares should be valued as a percentage of 2,980,000 

shares outstanding, not 4,500,000, because he believed that, at the time of 

the stock split vote, some shareholders intended to sell 1,520,000 shares 

back to Sentinel. CP 327-30. Blood's belief is false. All4,500,000 shares 

were voted and were outstanding just prior to the stock split. CP 6, 26-32, 

188-92, 200.2 Blood admitted this. CP 327 ("In this meeting all Sentinel 

shareholders were present ... "). Yet, Blood ignored his own admission and 

the statute's mandate that fair value be measured "immediately before the 

effective date" ofthe reverse stock split. CP 327-29; RCW 238.13.010(3). 

2 The repurchase of shares by Sentinel, including Respondents' shares, was part and 
parcel of the stock split transaction on which the shareholders voted. !d. 
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Understandably, Sentinel refused to pay Respondents' inflated and 

unsupported demands. CP 11. 

B. Procedural History. 

On January 31, 2011, Sentinel filed its Petition for Determination 

of Fair Value of Shares of Dissenting Shareholder ("Petition"), which was 

legally required to avoid payment of the inflated demands. CP 3; RCW 

23B.13.300(1).3 The only issue to be decided is fair value. Sound lnfiniti, 

Inc. v. Snyder, 169 Wn.2d 199,209-10,237 P.3d 241 (2010). 

By August 9, 2011, Respondents had produced no credible fair 

value evidence and Sentinel moved for summary judgment. CP 452-54. 

Sentinel offered Kukull' s affidavit, attaching and swearing to the truth of 

his detailed 87-page expert report and his supplemental report confirming 

the validity ofhis valuation as of October 31,2010. CP 226-320. Based 

on Respondents' arbitrary failure to support their counter-demands, 

Sentinel's motion also requested an award of its reasonable attorneys' fees 

and costs, pursuant to RCW 23B.13.310(2)(b). CP 449-50. 

On October 18, 2011, just three days before the summary judgment 

hearing, Hunt filed a new fair value report prepared by Jerry Hecker 

("Hecker Report"). CP 597-672. Mr. Hecker had not sworn to the truth of 

3 Importantly, Sentinel complied with all statutory requirements with regard to dissenters' 
rights proscribed in RCW 23B.I3.0 10 et. seq. Respondents do not contend otherwise. 
See generally Brief of Appellants Hunt, Oct. 8, 2012 (hereafter "Hunt. Br."), which 
Bloods joined for the appeal to Division III. Bloods' Notice of Joinder, Oct. 22,2012. 
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his opinions. CP 597. Sentinel objected to the admissibility of the Hecker 

Report as hearsay inadmissible to rebut Mr. Kukull's valuation. CP 588, 

n. 2; 10/2112011 VRP 25:10-34,26:16-22. 

At the October 21, 2011 summary judgment hearing, the Trial 

Court agreed that the unsworn Hecker Report was hearsay and 

inadmissible to refute Kukull' s sworn opinion. CP 569-73; 10/2112011 

VRP 16:18-20, 17:6-14, 28:24-29:24.4 All that remained to refute 

Kukull's opinion was 1) Hunt's self-serving declaration setting forth his 

beliefs as to why Kukull's valuation was allegedly incorrect; and 2) 

Blood's arguments about the share value in his response brief. CP 560-64, 

574-78. Although the Court of Appeals' Opinion repeatedly references an 

"affidavit" by Blood, no such document exists. !d. Respondents conceded 

they are not experts on stock valuation. 10/21/2011 VRP 15:7-8, 21:22-

23:2. The Trial Court found that that Respondents' lay witness beliefs 

were unsupported by documented facts or by a witness qualified to render 

opinions on stock valuation. 10/21/2011 VRP 28:18-23; 30:8-12. 

Based on Respondents' failure to produce admissible evidence to 

refute Kukull's opinion, the Trial Court granted summary judgment in 

Sentinel's favor, determining fair value to be $0.1952 per share, and 

4 Respondents expressly waived their request under CR 56( f) for a continuance of the 
hearing to conduct additional discovery and, thus, elected instead to rely on the evidence 
they had presented as of the hearing date. 10/21/2011 VRP 4:6-4:25. 
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awarding Sentinel its reasonable attorneys' fees and costs. 1 0/21/2011 

VRP 16:11-17:9; 18:4-22; 19:11-16; 28:18-29:24; CP 450,677-82. In 

support of this decision, the Trial Court found it "troublesome" that the 

fair value dispute had been pending for nearly a year, and, yet, 

Respondents lacked admissible evidence sufficient to create an issue of 

fact. 10/2112011 VRP 28:9-23. The Trial Court then denied Respondents' 

motion for reconsideration and their belated attempt to introduce an 

affidavit by Mr. Hecker. CP 793-95; 879-80. 

On January 25, 2012, Sentinel submitted a proposed judgment for 

a total of $79,286.64 and the parties briefed the reasonableness of the 

attorneys' fee award. CP 898-936-948, 981-83, 991-93, 997-1016. On 

April 5, 2012, the Trial Court entered judgment for Sentinel, awarding it 

costs and attorneys' fees totaling $77,186.66. CP 1076-79. Respondents 

appealed the summary judgment and the fee award. The Court of Appeals 

heard oral argument on May 1, 2013. 

On August 15, 2013, the Court of Appeals reversed the Trial 

Court. It held that the Trial Court improperly "weighed" the evidence on 

summary judgment by failing to consider the following: 1) the "hearsay" 

opinion of Respondents' consulting "expert," 2) Hunt's "belief' that the 

value was higher because a "sale was in the offing," and 3) Blood's 

"belief' that his shares were worth more because a quarter of the shares 
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were to be sold back to Sentinel. Opinion, pp. 12-13.5 The Court of 

Appeals ignored CR 56(e)'s admissible evidence requirement, cited no 

evidence that supported Respondents' "beliefs," and failed to address how 

Respondents, as admitted non-experts, were competent to opine as to the 

share value. See generally id. 

Given its reversal of the summary judgment, the Court of Appeals 

reversed the attorneys' fee award. It further found that Respondents had 

not engaged in any arbitrary, vexatious or bad faith conduct by making 

excessive demands, and by failing to present admissible expert testimony, 

despite their "negligence" in doing so. Opinion, pp. 16-18. 

V. LAW AND ARGUMENT 

The Court of Appeals' Opinion raises issues of substantial public 

interest that warrant review under RAP 13 .4(b )( 4 ). By requiring the Trial 

Court to consider bald assertions and inadmissible hearsay, the Opinion 

contradicts CR 56 and established precedent requiring summary judgment 

to be entered where the non-moving party fails to create a genuine issue of 

material fact with competent affidavit testimony setting forth facts 

admissible in evidence. The Opinion also promotes unwarranted litigation 

and undermines the purpose of the attorneys' fee provision of RCW 

23B.13.31 0, which is to promote the parties' good faith. The Opinion 

5 The Court of Appeals declined to address the exclusion of the Hecker Report. /d., p. 5. 

-7-



permits dissenters to force a corporation to trial for ill motives, because 

they have nothing to lose. They do not need admissible evidence, only a 

"belief' that fair value is higher than the corporation's expert valuation -

no matter how unfounded, unqualified, or illogical that belief. 

Given these public policy considerations and the serious errors in 

the Court of Appeals' published Opinion, Sentinel respectfully requests 

that this Court review and reverse the Opinion. 

A. The Court of Appeals Erred in Holding That Respondents' 
"Beliefs" as to Value Were Sufficient to Create a Genuine 
Issue as to the Share Value. 

The Court of Appeals held that "the dissenters' valuations, even 

without the evidence from their trial expert Hecker, raised a question of 

fact.. . [which] did not allow the court to determine fair value at summary 

judgment." Opinion, p. 12. This pronouncement is wrong in light of the 

clearly established summary judgment standards under CR 56. 

1. Respondents' "Beliefs" as to Value Were Bare 
Allegations Unsupported by Any Evidence. 

In response to Sentinel's motion supported by Kukull' s detailed, 

sworn valuation, Respondents, as the non-moving parties, were not 

entitled to "rest upon the mere allegations or denials," but were required to 

"set forth specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial." 

CR 56( e). Furthermore, the affidavits they submitted had to be "made on 
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personal knowledge, shall set forth facts as would be admissible in 

evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to 

testify to the matters stated therein." /d. Summary judgment under CR 56 

is permissible in dissenters' rights actions. See Matthew G. Norton Co. v. 

Smyth, 112 Wn. App. 865, 51 P.3d 159 (2002) (granting partial summary 

judgment in dissenters' rights action); see also CR I (the Civil Rules 

"govern the procedure in the trial court in all suits of a civil nature"). 

As this Court has held, at summary judgment, self-serving 

affidavits and declarations are "not accepted at face value." Heath v. 

Uraga, 106 Wn. App. 506, 512-13, 24 P.3d 413 (2001). The nonmoving 

party on a summary judgment motion is 

not justified in relying upon such bare allegations to carry 
him to trial... The purpose of the summary judgment rule is 
to permit the court to pierce such formal allegations of facts 
in pleadings when it appears there are no genuine issues ... 
Affidavits enjoy no such special immunity and will be 
"pierced" under the same circumstances. 

Meissner v. Simpson Timber Co., 69 Wn.2d 949, 955-56, 421 P.2d 674 

(1966) (citation omitted). When the allegations in an opposing affidavit 

have no evidentiary support, reasonable minds can reach only one 

conclusion and summary judgment is proper. /d. at 957. 

Contrary to this Court's holdings in Heath and Meissner, the Court 

of Appeals accepted Respondents' "beliefs" and allegations at face value. 
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Hunt's declaration was barely four pages in length and relied up on an 

alleged consultant valuation that Respondents refused to disclose. CP 

560-64; 10/21/11 VRP 3:20-25. Contrary to the Court of Appeals' 

assertion (Opinion p. 11 ), the alleged valuation was never before the Trial 

Court. 10/21/11 VRP 3:20-25. The consultant Hunt relied upon never 

testified, Respondents never offered a report or analysis to support the 

alleged opinion, and, as the Court of Appeals agreed, it was mere hearsay. 

/d.; CP 560-64; ER 801, 802. Despite acknowledging its inadmissibility, 

the Court of Appeals erroneously credits the alleged consultant opinion as 

"unchallenged" (Opinion, p. 11), ignoring Kukull's sworn report, which 

directly controverts the unverified hearsay opinion. CP 226-317. 

The Court of Appeals noted that Hunt then increased his demand 

"due to his belief that a sale was in the offing." Opinion, p. 11. The 

declaration and the Opinion, however, cite zero evidence in support of this 

belief. /d.; CP 560-64. Rather, the record showed that Hunt's "belief' 

was false. He never identified the "certain language" in the Kukull Report 

that supposedly led to this belief, and the Kukull Report explicitly stated 

that no merger or acquisition was contemplated. CP 300, 563. 

Rather than admissible evidence, Blood relied solely on unsworn 

arguments in his opposition brief. CP 574-78. Regardless, the Court of 

Appeals, operating under the erroneous assumption that Blood had 
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supplied an "affidavit," blindly accepted Blood's "belief' that the value of 

his shares was higher because "the company had an agreement to buy 

nearly one-quarter of its shares back from some of the other stockholders." 

Opinion, p. 11. Again, the Court of Appeals cited zero evidence to 

support this "belief," which is based on Blood's false premise that he 

owned a much larger percentage of Sentinel than he did at the time of the 

stock split vote. CP 328-29. The statute requires fair value to be 

measured at that time. RCW 238.13.010(3). The Opinion wholly fails to 

address this glaring flaw in Blood's argument. Opinion, p. 11. 

Despite the lack of admissible evidence to support Respondents' 

varying estimates, the Court of Appeals failed to pierce their assertions 

and determine whether the questions they raised were, actually, genuine. 

CR 56(b). Contrary to this Court's precedent, the Court of Appeals is 

content to let those bare assertions carry Respondents to trial. This error 

must be rectified. 

2. The Court of Appeals Accepted Respondents' 
Beliefs Without Addressing the Trial Court's 
Finding that They Lacked the Requisite Competence 
to Opine as to the Value of Closely-Held Stock. 

The Court of Appeals also ignored Respondents' lack of 

competence to testify as to the value of closely-held stock. CR 56(e) 

requires that affidavits "shall show affirmatively that the affiant is 

-11-



competent to testify to the matters stated therein." (emphasis added). 

Respondents not only failed to show their qualifications, they admitted 

they are not experts on stock valuation. 10/21/11 VRP 15:7-8, 21:22--

23:2. One of the bases for the Trial Court's rejection of Respondents' 

beliefs was their lack of relevant expertise. 10/21/2011 VRP 28: 18-23; 

30:8-12. The parties then specifically addressed this issue on appeal. The 

Opinion, however, fails to address whether Respondents established the 

competence requirement. Here, again, the Court of Appeals erred. 

The valuation of closely-held stock, such as Sentinel's, requires 

expert testimony. Sentinel has been unable to find any other Washington 

State precedent accepting non-expert testimony as probative of the value 

of closely-held stock. RCW 238.13.300(5) contemplates the necessity of 

expert testimony, by permitting the trial court to appoint an appraiser to 

assist it. Respondents also concede that the valuation is an expert issue by 

attempting to rely on the unsworn Hecker Report. Closely-held stock, by 

its nature, and unlike other property, has no market, and its valuation 

requires skilled judgment and experience. Suther v. Suther, 28 Wn. App. 

838, 842-43, 627 P.2d 110, 112 (1981). Kukull's value opinion included 

an 87-page sworn report with detailed analysis and citation to substantial, 

supporting evidence. CP 230-317. As indicated by Kukull's multiple 
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accreditations and considerable professional experience, business 

valuation is a recognized area of professional expertise. CP 316-17. 

Where, as here, an essential element in the case is "best established 

by an opinion that is beyond the expertise of a layperson," a party must 

offer expert witness testimony to defeat summary judgment. See Seybold 

v. Neu, 105 Wn. App. 666, 676, 19 P .3d 1068 (200 1 ). The Court of 

Appeals erred in silently finding that Respondents had the requisite 

competence to raise a genuine issue as to the value of Sentinel's stock. 

3. The Court of Appeals Erred in Holding that the 
Trial Court Improperly "Weighed" the Evidence. 

The Court of Appeals mischaracterized the Trial Court's rejection 

of Respondents' unsupported, unqualified beliefs as improper "weighing" 

of the evidence on summary judgment. The Opinion states: 

Given the evidentiary support for Kukull's work, it was 
reasonable for the court to be persuaded by that valuation. 
Nonetheless, under these facts, that determination required 
the court to consider the dissenters' evidence. While it was 
understandably rejected, the weighing of that evidence at 
summary judgment was improper and needed to be done at 
trial. Opinion, p. 12. 

The Trial Court does not impermissibly "weigh" the evidence 

when it applies the standards set out in CR 56 and established summary 

judgment precedent. See CR 56(e) (opposing evidence must be competent 

and admissible); Meissner, 69 Wn.2d at 955-57 (disregarding unsupported 

affidavit testimony); Heath, 106 Wn. App. at 512-13 (courts not to accept 
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affidavits at face value); Seybold, 105 Wn. App. at 676 (expert testimony 

required to establish material fact beyond expertise of lay person). 6 

But the Opinion effectively abolishes the summary judgment 

procedure by forbidding the Trial Court from ever testing the non-moving 

party's evidence under the requirements of our Civil and Evidence Rules. 

This holding is error and should be reversed. 

B. The Court of Appeals Erred In Holding that Inadmissible 
Evidence Is Sufficient to Defeat Summary Judgment. 

The Opinion holds that inadmissible "evidence" must be 

considered in determining whether there is a genuine issue of fact for trial. 

Opinion, p. 11. Specifically, the Court of Appeals held that, although the 

unsworn, undisclosed expert opinion referenced by Respondents 

"constituted hearsay, ... [t]he court had a duty under the statute to consider 

all of that information in making its determination of fair value." !d., 

pp. 11, 12. Nothing in the statute, however, creates an exception to the 

Civil or Evidence Rules. RCW 23B.13.010, et. seq. The Court of 

Appeals also held that the Trial Court was required to consider 

Mr. Blood's "belief' as to value set forth in his "affidavit," despite the fact

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