RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Oct 14, 2013, 3:38 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

No. 89317-9

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SENTINEL C3, INC., a Washington Corporation,

Petitioner,

v.

CHRIS J. HUNT, an individual and the marital community, if any, comprised of CHRIS J. HUNT and CARMEN HUNT; MICHAEL BLOOD, an individual and the marital community, if any, comprised of MICHAEL BLOOD and JANAE BLOOD,

Respondent.

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY RESPONDENTS CHRIS & CARMEN HUNT

Vicki L. Mitchell, WSBA # 31259 Paine Hamblen LLP 717 West Sprague Avenue, Suite 1200 Spokane, WA 9920-3505 (509) 455-6000

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

#### III. ARGUMENTS

Sentinel C3's petition for discretionary review should be denied because the only grounds for review raised by Sentinel C3 – a substantial public interest in preventing misconduct by dissenting shareholders – is already addressed in the controlling statute, RCW Chapter 23B.13.

Accordingly, review by the Washington Supreme Court is not warranted and Sentinel C3's petition should be denied. RAP 13.4(b).

#### A. The Standard for Review Has Not Been Met.

RAP 13.4(b) expressly provides that a petition for review by the Washington Supreme Court will only be accepted if the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of another Washington court, if there is a significant question of law under the Washington and/or Federal

Constitutions, or if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest to be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 14.3(b)(1-4).

The only grounds for review Sentinel C3 has argued is the "substantial public interest" requirement. RAP 13.4(b)(4). Under this requirement, Sentinel C3 has argued that the decision of the Court of Appeals has created an issue of substantial public interest regarding misconduct by dissenting shareholders generally and specifically under the dissenter's right statute, RCW Chapter 23B.13.

However, the dissenter's rights statute already contains provisions for addressing and discouraging misconduct by *all* parties, not just the dissenters. Specifically, RCW 23B.13.310 provides the court can award attorneys fees and costs against a party for any of the various reasons identified therein – including but not limited to any arbitrary, vexatious or bad faith conduct by the dissenters in making their initial demands or for their conduct generally under the statute and its proceedings. RCW 23B.13.310(1) & (2)(b).

Thus, the only issue of substantial public interest raised by Sentinel C3 has already been addressed by the legislature – and does not need to be addressed by the Washington Supreme Court. <u>Id.</u> Review is therefore not warranted under the requirements of RAP 13.4(b) and Sentinel C3's petition should be denied.

The rest of Sentinel C3's petition for review is dedicated to rearguing the same issues and arguments already decided by the Court of Appeals. Essentially, these are arguments regarding how the Court of

Appeals allegedly erred, and not arguments for why review by the Supreme Court is warranted per RAP 13.4(b). Such alleged error by the Court of Appeals alone is insufficient to warrant review by the Washington Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b). However, the Hunts make the following responses to these arguments raised by Sentinel C3's petition.

# B. Summary Judgment Was Inappropriate Under RCW Chapter 23B.13 and the Disputed Evidence.

The Court of Appeals properly concluded that the Declaration of Chris Hunt, the unchallenged responsive pleading of Mr. Blood, and the discovery responses on record before the trial court created a disputed issue of material fact regarding the proper valuation of the shares at issue – and thus summary judgment was inappropriate. CR 56(c).

This is especially true under RCW 23B.13.300, which requires the trial court to make a determination of what fair value is for the shares of dissenting shareholders. RCW 23B.13.300(1). As the Court of Appeals noted, such determination of fair value does not require the trial court to automatically adopt or accept an appraiser's report on value; this is underscored by the statute itself, which authorizes the court to appoint "one or more" appraisers to "recommend decisions" on the question of fair value – but ultimately leaves determination up to the court. RCW 23B.13.300(5).

Thus, determining fair value is ultimately a question of weight – the weight to be given to the evidence by the judge, including any appraiser reports or recommendations and any other evidence before the

court. RCW 23B.13.300; see Richey & Gilbert Co. v. Nw. Natural Gas Corp., 16 Wn.2d 631, 134 P.2d 444 (1943) (discussing weight to be given opinions by those familiar with a subject, but recognizing the same are not to be blindly received); see also In re Marriage of Pilant, 42 Wn. App. 173, 709 P.2d 1241 (1985) (recognizing court's decision is based on its own fair judgment, assisted by experts if appropriate, but court is not required to accept opinion testimony of experts); accord Suther v. Suther, 28 Wn. App. 838, 627 P.2d 110 (1981) (upholding trial court's independent determination of value for corporate stock).

Such weighing of the evidence is inappropriate on summary judgment. Ingersol v. Seattle-First Natl. Bank, 63 Wn.2d 354, 358, 387 P.2d 538 (1963) (citing Wicklund v. Allraum, 122 Wn. 546, 211 P. 760 (1922)); cited in Worthington v. Worthington, 73 Wn.2d 759, 763, 440 P.2d 478 (1968); State v. Hammond, 6 Wn. App. 459, 461, 493 P.2d 1249 (1972). On summary judgment, the court must only "pass on whether a burden of production has been met, not whether evidence produced is persuasive." Renz v. Spokane Eye Clinic, 114 Wn. App. 611, 623, 60 P.3d 106 (2002); quoted in Baker v. Advanced Silicon, 131 Wn. App. 616, 624, 128 P.3d 633 (2006); accord Dalton v. State, 130 Wn. App. 653, 661 fn 3, 124 P.3d 305 (2005).

As noted above, the Declaration of Chris Hunt, the unchallenged response pleading of Mr. Blood, and the discovery responses were admissible evidence before the court regarding whether Mr. Kukull's valuation represented fair value and whether some other value constituted

fair value. Sentinel C3 continues to argue this evidence should have been disregarded because it was just the parties' self-serving, arbitrary "belief" as to value, unsupported by any evidence. This argument disregards both the content of the pleadings and the rules of evidence.

First, for the Hunts, Chris Hunt's declaration by itself was admissible evidence. It contained no hearsay, detailed the basis for his valuation and how he arrived at the amount, and detailed the questions and problems he had with Mr. Kukull's valuation. CP 560-563. Contrary to Sentinel C3's assertions, Mr. Hunt did not have to provide *more* evidence to support his declaration – the declaration itself was evidence sufficient to create a disputed issue of material fact regarding valuation and defeat summary judgment. CR 56(c)(e).

Plaintiff contends otherwise, attempting to classify Mr. Hunt's Declaration as consisting of bare allegations or self serving conclusory statements insufficient to defeat summary judgment. Plaintiff relies upon two cases that hold such unsupported testimony is insufficient to defeat summary judgment. Heath v. Uraga, 106 Wn. App. 506, 24 P.3d 413 (2001); Meissner v. Simpson Timber Co., 69 Wn.2d 949, 421 P.2d 674 (1966).

However, in each of those cases the declarations at issue consisted of conclusory statements, meant to defeat summary judgment, that had no additional testimony explaining or supporting the statements themselves. Id. That is not the case with Mr. Hunt's Declaration; Mr. Hunt did not testify conclusively that Mr. Kukull's value was wrong and his own value

right, with nothing more. Instead, he provided detailed testimony and discussion regarding both the challenges he had to Mr. Kukull's valuation – i.e., the facts underlying his concerns – and the facts he relied upon in reaching his own valuation amount. CP 560-563.

These specific facts and testimony were not bare allegations or self serving conclusory statements as prohibited by <u>Heath</u> and <u>Meissner</u>. The same is true for the assertions contained in Mr. Blood's responsive pleading – which was unchallenged hearsay and thus admitted before and considered by the court. CP 574-577. Thus, the evidence at issue here is factually distinct from the declarations in <u>Heath</u>, <u>Meissner</u> and those cases do not apply.

Sentinel C3 also persists in arguing both Hunt and Blood were not qualified to give opinions on valuation and that an expert must testify to value. This position is contradicted by the controlling law in Washington.

The case Sentinel C3 cites regarding need for expert testimony is a medical malpractice case wherein the court recognized "expert testimony is required to establish the standard of care and most aspects of causation in a medical negligence action." Seybold v. Neu, 105 Wn. App. 666, 678, 19 P.3d 1068 (2001). This is not a medical negligence case and the Seybold court's statement is not controlling here.

Sentinel C3 provides no other authority stating that valuation of stock shares requires an expert opinion. On the contrary and as noted above, the trial court is not required to accept any such expert opinion in making its own determination of fair value and if the court feels an expert is needed, it can appoint one itself. RCW 23B.13.300(5).

In addition, the Hunts and Bloods are entitled to testify as to the value of their own shares. There is no question under Washington decisional law that the owner of personal property or chattel can testify as to its value without having to qualify as an expert. Cunningham v. Town of Tieton, 60 Wn.2d 434, 436, 374 P.2d 375 (1962); guoted in Port of Seattle v. Equitable Capital, 127 Wn.2d 202, 211, 898 P.2d 275 (1995); accord Ingersol v. Seattle-First Natl. Bank, 63 Wn.2d 354, 387 P.2d 538 (1963); see McCurdy v. Union Pac. R.R. Co., 68 Wn.2d 457, 468-469, 413 P.2d 617 (1966) ("Of course, the owner of a chattel may testify as to its market value without being qualified as an expert in this regard."); see also State v. Hammond, 6 Wn. App. 459, 461, 493 P.2d 1249 (1972) ("The prevailing rule is that the owner of a chattel may testify as to its market value without being qualified as an expert in this regard.") (citing McCurdy, supra); relied upon in State v. McPhee, 156 Wn. App. 44, 230 P.3d 284 (2010) and State v. Gerber, 28 Wn. App. 214, 622 P.2d 888 (1981).

What is more, it is well established that stock options and shares are recognized in Washington as personal property or chattel. <u>Marriage of Langham</u>, 153 Wn.2d 553, 564-565, 106 P.3d 212 (2005); see also <u>Suther</u>, 28 Wn. App. 838 (valuing and distributing shares of corporate stock in a divorce proceeding); <u>Marriage of Harrington</u>, 85 Wn. App. 613, 935 P.2d

1357 (1997); Marriage of Brooks, 51 Wn. App. 882, 756 P.2d 161 (1988); Marriage of Berg, 47 Wn. App. 754, 737 P.2d 680 (1987).

Thus, the Hunts and Bloods can testify as to the value of their shares – including disputing Mr. Kukull's valuation of the shares – because such shares are their personal property. <u>Id.</u>; see also <u>Marriage of Gillespie</u>, 89 Wn. App. 390, 948 P.2d 1338 (1997) (considering testimony from owner of stock in valuation of same).

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals did not commit error or create an issue of substantial public interest by following Washington law and recognizing that the admitted testimony by both Mr. Hunt and Mr. Blood regarding the value of their shares, and their concerns with Mr. Kukull's valuation, created a disputed issue of material fact such that summary judgment was inappropriate. Review is unwarranted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) and Sentinel C3's petition should be denied.

#### C. Whether Weighing or Disregarding Evidence, Summary Judgment Was Still Inappropriate.

The majority of Sentinel C3's remaining arguments are variations on this same theme – that the evidence was inadmissible and therefore was not weighed or admitted, so Mr. Kukull's opinion was the only evidence before the court and summary judgment was appropriate.

This argument – in any variation – is not supported by the record.

The trial court did not hold that Mr. Hunt's declaration or Mr. Blood's responsive pleading were inadmissible; the trial court just held that such

evidence was insufficient to create a disputed issue of material fact on valuation.

As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, whether the trial court found the testimony of Mr. Hunt and Mr. Blood sufficient or not, such evidence still had to be considered, i.e. weighed, and thus summary judgment was inappropriate. <u>Ingersol</u>, 63 Wn.2d at 358; <u>Wicklund</u>, 122 Wn. 546; <u>Worthington</u>, 73 Wn.2d at 763; <u>Hammond</u>, 6 Wn. App. at 461; <u>Renz</u>, 114 Wn. App. at 623; <u>Baker</u>, 131 Wn. App. at 624; <u>Dalton</u>, 130 Wn. App. at 661 fn 3.

Also, as discussed under the procedural facts above, Mr. Hunt's Declaration, Mr. Blood's responsive pleading, and the discovery pleadings were all admitted and therefore on record before the court; only Mr. Hecker's report was excluded by the trial court. Sentinel C3 persists in calling all of this evidence "inadmissible" but no such determination was made – and Sentinel C3 cannot argue now, for the first time, that the trial court's consideration of the hearsay contained in Mr. Blood's responsive pleading necessitates discretionary review. The only testimony or pleading Sentinel C3 objected to was Mr. Hecker's report. All of Sentinel C3's other arguments regarding Mr. Hunt's declaration and Mr. Blood's response went to weight, not admissibility.

Thus, the decision by the Court of Appeals does not create a substantial public issue with regard to the law of summary judgment by requiring the trial court to consider inadmissible evidence – as Sentinel C3 contends. The only evidence excluded by the trial court was Mr. Hecker's

report and, as the Court of Appeals stated at the outset, its decision did not reach that issue. Instead, based on controlling Washington law and the testimony and evidence that was before the court – and therefore had to be considered by the court – the Court of Appeals properly recognized there was conflicting evidence and summary judgment was inappropriate. Such determination does not warrant review under the requirements of RAP 13.4(b) and thus Sentinel C3's petition should be denied.

# D. No Arbitrary, Vexatious or Bad Faith Conduct By Dissenters.

Finally, Sentinel C3 argues the Court of Appeals erred in reversing the award of statutory attorney's fees under RCW 23B.13.310. Sentinel C3 does not provide any argument or assertion, though, that this alleged error meets any of the requirements for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b). Sentinel C3 just argues it was error, but alleged error alone is not sufficient to establish the need for review by the Washington Supreme Court. Id.

The Court of Appeals properly recognized that the award of attorney's fees failed due to both the reversal of the summary judgment decision and on the merits – both procedurally and substantively. App. A, p. A-12.

Procedurally, the trial court failed to include sufficient findings to support its award and/or calculation of the attorney's fees award. As the Court of Appeals correctly recognized, a failure to provide appropriate findings to support both the award and the specific amount of fees will

normally result in a remand. Mahler v. Szucs, 135 Wn.2d 398, 435, 957 P.2d 632 (1998).

Sentinel C3 argues <u>Mahler</u> should not apply because there was sufficient information in the record to determine what the attorney fees were based on – but that is not the holding or decision in <u>Mahler</u>. Under <u>Mahler</u>, the court awarding the fees is specifically required to include sufficient findings in the order to demonstrate how it arrived at and computed the award. <u>Id.</u> Otherwise, the reviewing court is left speculating as to what in the record the trial court did or did not consider, include, or exclude – just as here. <u>Id.</u>

The amount of the attorney fees award by the trial court here did not coincide or match any amount proposed or calculated by any of the parties, and the final order contained no findings of fact to explain how the trial court arrived at the award or calculated the amount. CP 900-902, 937-946, 1013-1016, 1077-1078. Thus, pursuant to Mahler, the order itself was defective on the merits and subject to remand.

Substantively, the award was also manifestly unreasonable and thus constituted an abuse of discretion. RCW 23B.13.310 permits the trial court to award attorney's fees against the dissenters if the dissenters behavior was arbitrary, vexatious or not in good faith in either making their initial demand or under the statute and its proceedings generally. RCW 23B.13.310(1) & (2)(b).

Sentinel C3 has consistently argued – and continues to argue – that the dissenters acted arbitrarily, vexatiously or in bad faith by: 1) not

accepting Mr. Kukull's valuation and what Sentinel C3 paid in the first place; 2) submitting an allegedly excessive demand of their own; and 3) not producing the opinions of their consulting expert, while taking too long to hire and produce the opinions of their trial expert.

As the Court of Appeals appropriately recognized, none of this alleged conduct by the dissenters constituted arbitrary, vexatious or bad faith behavior as those terms are intended under RCW 23B.13.310 and other virtually identical fee provisions. See Humphrey Indus, v. Clay St. Assocs., 170 Wn.2d 495, 242 P.3d 846 (2010) [Humphrey I]; see also Humphrey Indus. v. Clay St. Assocs., 176 Wn.2d 662, 295 P.3d 231 (2013) [Humphrey II].

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